DEC 14 1992

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

ROGERS & FORD CONSTRUCTION CORP., and FLAGLER PROPERTIES, INC., CASE NO.: 80,788

District Court of Appeal 4th District - No. 91-2142

Petitioners,

vs.

 $I_{\mathbf{f}}^{*}$

ي.

CARLANDIA CORPORATION,

Respondent.

_____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, ROGERS & FORD CONSTRUCTION CORP.

Thomas D. Daiello, Esquire MARCHBANKS, DAIELLO & LEIDER, P.A. Counsel for Rogers & Ford Sanctuary Centre Tower E 4800 North Federal Highway Suite 101E Boca Raton, Florida 33431 Florida Bar No. 289681

STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Petitioner, Rogers & Ford Construction Corp., shall be referred to as "Rogers & Ford," the Petitioner, Flagler Properties, Inc., shall be referred to as "Flagler", and the Respondent, Carlandia Corporation, shall be referred to as Respondent. References to the record shall be denoted by "R.____."

The Respondent commenced this action by the filing of a complaint in the trial court (R. 34-45). In its complaint, the Respondent alleged that it was the owner of a condominium unit in a condominium project known as Two North Breakers Row, that Flagler was the developer of this project, and that Rogers & Ford was the contractor. Respondent further alleged that defects existed in its condominium unit and in the common elements of the condominium project and sought damages against the Petitioners for repair of these defects.

Rogers & Ford moved to dismiss the complaint (R. 46-48). In its motion, Rogers & Ford asserted, <u>inter alia</u>, that, as to the alleged defects in the common elements, the complaint must be dismissed for the reason that the Respondent was not the proper party to bring the action and/or the Respondent had failed to join indispensable parties in that the action could only be brought by all unit owners having interest in the common elements or the condominium association as the representative of the unit owners. Upon this motion and the motion of Flagler (R.49-50), the trial court dismissed Respondent's complaint with leave to

-1-

amend (R. 55-56).

The Respondent thereafter filed its amended complaint (R. 57-69). In its amended complaint, the Respondent abandoned its claims for defects in its own unit, leaving only those claims for defects in the common elements.

Rogers & Ford moved to dismiss the amended complaint upon substantially the same grounds it had asserted in its motion to dismiss the original complaint (R. 70-72). Upon this motion and the motion filed by Flagler (R.75-76), the trial court dismissed the amended complaint with prejudice (R. 77-78).

Thereafter, the Respondent timely filed its motion for rehearing (R. 79-83), which motion the trial court granted and set the matter for rehearing (R. 84-85). In its motion for rehearing and its argument before the trial court (R. 1-33), the Respondent asserted that under the holding of <u>S & T Anchorage,</u> <u>Inc., vs. Lewis</u>, 575 So.2d 696 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991), the Respondent, as an individual condominium unit owner, had a right to maintain an action for defects in the condominium common elements. The trial court again dismissed the amended complaint with prejudice, finding that the cited case was inapplicable to the instant case (R.88-89) and Respondent timely appealed the dismissal to the district court of appeal.

After the submission of briefs and oral argument, the district court reversed the trial court and held that an individual unit owner could maintain an action for defects in the common elements of the condominium. The Petitioners timely moved for rehearing, clarification and for certification. The district

-2-

court granted these motions and certified the following question as one of great public importance:

> MAY AN INDIVIDUAL CONDOMINIUM UNIT OWNER MAINTAIN AN ACTION FOR CONSTRUCTION DEFECTS IN THE COMMON ELEMENTS OR COMMON AREAS OF THE CONDOMINIUM?

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In addition to the arguments raised by Flagler in its initial brief, which are incorporated herein by reference, Rogers & Ford asserts that an individual unit owner may not maintain an action for construction defects in the common elements for the reasons which are summarized as follows:

Ι

Insofar as each condominium unit owner shares with all other condominium unit owners an undivided interest in the common elements of the condominium, any action brought by an individual unit owner for defects in the common elements will directly and substantially affect these undivided interests. Therefore, all unit owners are indispensable parties to an action for defects in the common elements.

II

The reliance of the district court upon section §718.111(3), Florida Statutes (1991), in its holding is misplaced in that neither this provision nor any other provision of the Condominium Act supports the right of an individual unit owner to maintain an action for defects in the common elements.

III

There are strong public policy reasons why an individual unit owner should not be permitted to maintain an action for defects

-3-

in the common elements and which make this issue one of great public importance.

DISCUSSION

Ι

one whose interest will be indispensable party is An substantially and directly affected by the outcome of the case and the case may not be decided without the presence of such party. W.R. Cooper, Inc. vs. City of Miami Beach, 512 So.2d 324 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987); Amerada Hess Corporation vs. Morgan, 426 So.2d 1122 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); United States vs. State of Florida, 179 So.2d 890 (Fla. 3d DCA 1965). A condominium unit owner shares an undivided interest in the common element with all §§718.103(11), 718.106(2)(a), Fla.Stat. other unit owners. (1991). Any action brought for repair of the common elements would directly and substantially affect the undivided interests which all unit owners share in the common elements and, therefore, all unit owners are indispensable parties.¹

^{1.} In its argument before the district court, Respondent asserted that if there was an indispensable party defect in its pleadings it should have been given leave to amend to cure them and that it was therefore error to dismiss the amended complaint with prejudice citing Whittington Condominium Apartments, Inc. vs. Braemar Corp., 313 So.2d 463 (Fla 4th DCA 1975) for this proposition. First, the opinion in Whittington states that it is improper to dismiss with prejudice a complaint for the improper joinder of parties unless an opportunity to amend has been granted that there has been a failure to comply therewith. Id. at 466. Second. as the record reflects, Rogers & Ford raised the indispensable party defect in its motion to dismiss Respondent's original complaint, the Respondent was granted leave to amend, and the Respondent failed to cure the Therefore, the trial court did not err in dismissing defect. the amended complaint with prejudice.

In support of its holding, the district court cites a portion of the last sentence of section 718.111(3), Florida Statutes (1991). The portion cited by the district court is that "[n]othing herein limits any statutory or common-law right of any individual unit owner...to bring any action without participation by the association..." which the district court apparently construes as authority to permit actions for common element defects by individual unit owners. The full text of the sentence is as follows:

> Nothing herein limits any statutory or commonlaw right of an individual unit owner or class of unit owners to bring any action without participation by the association which <u>may</u> otherwise be available. (Emphasis supplied)²

However, neither this sentence nor the portion cited by the district court can be construed to reach the district court's conclusion, particularly given other provisions of the Condominium Act.

The operative phrase in the last sentence of section 718.111(3) is that an individual unit owner may bring an action which "may otherwise be available". For any action to be "otherwise available", all parties indispensable to that action must be present. As argued previously in this brief, all unit owners are indispensable parties to an action for defects in the common elements; therefore, such an action would not be

. .

-5-

The Petitioner in its argument before the district court cited this sentence in §718.111(3), Florida Statutes (1987). The sentence was amended by including the phrase "without participation by the association".

"otherwise available" to an individual unit owner.

Furthermore, the association has the sole authority to operate the condominium, §718.111(1)(a), and is granted the power to operate, maintain and manage the condominium property, including its common elements, and the authority to institute suit with respect to these powers, §718.111(3). These are grants of powers and authority which have been specifically reserved to the association and not to the individual unit owner and, in fact, a unit owner has no authority to act for the association by reason of being a unit owner, §718.111(1)(c). Therefore, actions by individual unit owners which are "otherwise available" are those actions other than actions which the association is authorized to maintain concerning the common elements and matters of common interest under the Condominium Act's reservation of and authority to the association to maintain such power Indeed, given the pervasive role of the association in actions. the statutory scheme of the Condominium Act with respect to the common elements and matters of common interest, it could not have been the intent of the Condominium Act to permit an individual unit owner to maintain an action for defects in the common It is therefore submitted that it was the intent of elements. the last sentence of section 718.111(3) to reflect that unit owners did not lose any rights of action by virtue of being unit owners other than those actions which the association has the power and authority to maintain.

III

The issue of whether an individual unit owner may maintain an

-6-

action for defects in the common elements is one of first impression in this State. There are strong public policy reasons why an individual unit owner should not be permitted to maintain such an action. Given the pervasive nature of condominium life and development in this State, these reasons make this issue one of great public importance. These reasons are as follows.

¢

. /

First, suits against condominium developers for defects in the common elements have heretofore been brought by either the condominium association or as a class action by the unit As such, the potential exposure of a developer in owners. developing or in deciding whether to develop a condominium was limited to a single such claim from a single party which often times was resolved before suit was commenced. However, under the district court's holding in this case, a condominium developer could now conceivably be faced with as many lawsuits for such defects as there are unit owners. Insofar as these suits would be brought by a different unit owner, the doctrine of res judicata would not be bar to any of these suits notwithstanding the fact that the suits were brought on some or all of the same alleged defects or different defects. This increased exposure to multiple claims would have a chilling effect on condominium development in this State.

Second, if an individual unit owner were permitted to maintain an action for the common area defects, a developer in attempting to remedy or resolve defects claimed by the association or a unit owner could never be certain that the claim was resolved for fear that some other unit owner or unit owners

-7-

might assert that the remedy or resolution was inadequate and/or that additional defects existed. This would create great uncertainty for builders and developers in the resolution of claims which would continue until the applicable statute of limitations for these defects had expired. This would result in a great reluctance by builders and developers to remedy any defects until all possible claims by all potential claimants had been made or had become time-barred which would have a great chilling effect on the resolution of defect claims.

. 1

Third, the district court's holding in this case has the practical effect of eroding the condominium association's authority and ability to govern at the most critical time of the association's existence, to-wit, turnover of the association from the developer to the unit owners. It is during this period that the condominium construction records are reviewed, engineering surveys conducted, defects identified, and negotiation concerning the remedy of these defects takes place. Under the district court's holding, a condominium association would never be certain that its efforts in identifying and negotiating the resolution of defects and the substantial costs attendant thereto would be conclusive or even justifiable knowing that its efforts may be "second-guessed" by the assertion of a claim or claims by an individual unit owner or owners. Furthermore, the association would have great difficulty in negotiating with the builder or developer to resolve the claims where both parties knew that any agreement or procedure that is reached or employed to correct defects may be subverted by an individual unit owner or unit

-8-

owners. Indeed, in order to reach such a resolution, it would be necessary for the developer and the association to require that virtually every unit owner be a party to such a resolution and/or that a release be obtained from every unit owner. This would have a chilling effect on the authority and ability of the association to resolve such claims and to even make any efforts to resolve these claims.

Fourth, the district court's holding would create chaos in the scheme and structure of condominium life. Because the holding can be extended to permit the maintenance of virtually any action by an individual unit owner concerning the common elements and matters of common interest, it is an invitation for each unit owner to become a "one-person" association. This would would create virtual anarchy.

CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the Petitioner, Rogers & Ford Construction Corp., respectfully requests that this Court accept jurisdiction of this matter, reverse the decision of the district court, and affirm the decision of the trial court.

-9-