I ED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 20 1993

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

ROGERS & FORD CONSTRUCTION CORP., and FLAGLER PROPERTIES, INC.,

CASE NO.: 80,788

District Court of Appeal 4th District - No. 91-2142

Petitioners,

vs.

CARLANDIA CORPORATION,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, CARLANDIA CORPORATION

LOUIS R. McBANE, ESQ.

J. KORY PARKHURST, ESQ.

BOOSE CASEY CIKLIN LUBITZ

MARTENS McBANE & O'CONNELL

Northbridge Tower - 19th Floor

515 North Flagler Drive

West Palm Beach, Florida 33401

Telephone (407) 832-5900

· •

#

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

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court dismissed Plaintiff's Amended Complaint on the ground that an individual unit owner could not, <u>under any circumstances</u>, maintain an action for defects to common elements. In fact, when asked whether the court was concerned about an "indispensable party" problem, and whether Plaintiff should seek leave to amend to join the association or other unit owners as a class, the trial court replied the issue of an indispensable party was not the basis for his ruling. The trial court held essentially that under §718.111(3) the association had the <u>exclusive</u> right to maintain such actions and that individual unit owners, no matter in what capacity or joinder, have no standing. The trial court's ruling was clearly error.

At common law, individual unit owners were required to maintain suits in their own names because associations were not recognized legal entities. Courts soon recognized associations, but still required individual unit owners to maintain class action suits, requiring compliance with the procedural prerequisites of a class action. The legislature then enacted the predecessor statute to §718.111(3), which granted associations the capacity to sue, dispensing with the procedural need for the unit owners to prove class action status. The legislature did this for procedural ease and not with the intent to usurp the common law rights of the individual unit owners as clearly reflected in the very language of the statute.

As they did before the Fourth District, the Defendants fail to

recognize the issue on appeal. While both acknowledge Plaintiff could maintain the action by joining other unit owners or by joining the association, they fail to recognize that the trial court precluded such a joinder. Defendants' arguments regarding public policy and multiplicity of suits are premature; they fail to recognize the basic distinction between the substantive issue of standing as opposed to the equitable considerations of avoiding multiple suits. At some point in the future, Plaintiff may well join the association as an involuntary party, but at this point in the litigation the issue for review is whether the court's holding, essentially barring Plaintiff from such joinder, was error. The statute, case law and common sense clearly suggest it was.

The Fourth District was correct in its reversal of the trial court in this case. The facts of this case are unique and do not present the issues represented by the Defendants as being of great public importance. This Court should refuse jurisdiction or, in the alternative, affirm the correct conclusion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY DISMISSING WITH PREJUDICE PLAINTIFF'S AMENDED COMPLAINT BASED UPON THE COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT AN INDIVIDUAL UNIT OWNER COULD NEVER MAINTAIN SUIT, IN ANY FASHION, FOR DAMAGES TO THE CONDOMINIUM'S COMMON ELEMENTS.

The trial court erred in its dismissal with prejudice of Plaintiff's Amended Complaint seeking damages for defects and deficiencies in the condominium's common elements. The trial court held that an individual unit owner could not, under any circumstances, maintain such an action given it was the association that had to bring suit pursuant to §718.111(3), Fla. Stat. (1987). The operative language of the statute and case law reveal that the trial court was wrong. Unit owners may maintain such suits individually and as members of a class. The trial court precluded this by its ruling and its clear expression that joinder of indispensable parties (such as the association or other unit owners as a class action) made no difference to its ruling.

Section 718.111(3) is permissive, not mandatory, and reflects the legislature's intent to confer the <u>capacity</u> to sue upon condominium associations for procedural ease rather than a substantive change of established common law. The trial court's ruling, in essence that the association is the <u>sole</u> party to maintain such suits, is clearly error. The Fourth District

As is obvious from the style and status of this case the condominium association has not joined in this action.

recognized this and properly reversed the lower court's decision.

A. <u>The Instant Case Does Not Present a Question of Great Public Importance</u>.

This is a unique case which turns on specific facts. The question certified was not essential to the proper determination of the case. This Court should exercise its discretion to either refuse to exercise jurisdiction or refuse to render a written opinion.

As stated previously, while Defendants argue that the trial court was correct because indispensable parties were not joined, the trial court itself ruled that this was not a consideration. The trial court ruled, incorrectly, that an individual unit owner could not maintain an action for damages to common elements under any circumstances; neither by joining the association nor by joining all other owners as a class.<sup>2</sup> This was clearly error.

The Fourth District recognized this and recognized that the trial court had ruled essentially that condominium associations had the exclusive right to sue under §718.111(3). Opinion at 2. The Fourth District held that, under the facts of this case, the trial court was wrong and that the Plaintiff does have standing. Opinion at 2 (". . . we disagree that [individual condominium unit owners] have no standing to sue under the <u>circumstances sub judice</u>") (emphasis added). While the District Court acknowledged that certain practical difficulties may exist by its ruling, it recognized that such potential difficulties could not deprive an

The effect of the ruling was, in essence, to preclude a class action, expressly recognized under Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220, in deference to an action maintained by an association.

owner of standing.

While the certified question herein confers jurisdiction on this Court, it does not mandate the Court exercise that jurisdiction. As stated in Zirin v. Charles Pfizer & Co., 128 So.2d 594, 597 (Fla. 1961):

For the purpose of emphasis we repeat that the proposition of whether a decision of a district court decides a question of great public importance is one solely for the district court to determine only insofar as vesting complete jurisdiction in this Court to entertain the cause is concerned. After jurisdiction attaches, the Constitution then brings into play the power of this Court to exercise its discretion and then to determine whether in that case an opinion is justified or required. For instance, to cite just one example, a decision may be certified to this Court that does decide a question of great public importance but, on examination by this Court, we may conclude that the question answered was not essential to a determination of the case and is of such nature that no useful purpose would be served by rendering a decision. [Footnote omitted].

In the instant case, the certified question is not essential to the proper and correct determination of this case and a written opinion would serve no useful purpose.

# B. The Trial Court Ruled That The Action Must Be Maintained By The Association Under §718.111(3).

If this Court decides to accept and exercise jurisdiction, however, it must affirm the Fourth District's opinion. An individual unit owner has standing to maintain an action for damages to common elements.

Defendants, again, misconstrue the issue on review. Defendants' acknowledge individual unit owners may maintain construction defect suits, but argue Plaintiff does not have <u>standing</u> because

indispensable parties exist. It must be understood that if this were true, the trial court would have afforded Plaintiff the opportunity to amend to join such indispensable parties. See Wittington Condominium Apartments, Inc. v. Braemar Corp., 313 So.2d 463, 466 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), cert. denied, 327 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1976); see also Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.190 and 1.210(a). Instead, the trial court stated that the failure to join an indispensable party was not the basis for his ruling. It was clear that the trial court would not entertain a motion for leave to amend to join other parties. Such a motion would have been fruitless in light of the court's expressed ruling. The trial judge held that the only vehicle by which to bring such a suit is by and through the association as the sole party plaintiff under §718.111(3).

# C. <u>Individual Unit Owners Have An Actionable Interest in the Condominium Common Elements</u>.

It is clear in Florida that individual unit owners have an actionable interest in their condominium's common elements. See generally, Avila South Condominium Association, Inc. v. Kappa Corp., 347 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1976); Wittington Condominium Apartments, Inc. v. Braemar Corp., 313 So.2d 463 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975), cert. den., 327 So.2d 31 (Fla. 1976). Condominium unit owners own an undivided proportionate share of the common elements, making them owners of the common elements. Significantly, prior to the enactment of the predecessor statute to §718.111(3), individual unit owners were deemed to be the only proper parties in interest in suits affecting common elements. See generally, Commodore

Plaza, at Century 21 Condominium Association, Inc. v. Saul J. Morgan Enterprises, Inc., 301 So.2d 783 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974), dismissed, 308 So.2d 538 (Fla. 1975); Hendler v. Rogers House Condominium, Inc., 234 So.2d 128 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). Individual unit owners were required at that time to bring suit in their individual capacity and as a representative of a class of unit owners. This remains an acceptable procedure. See Fla.R.Civ.P. 1.220. This was overlooked by the trial court when it determined the only way to maintain a suit for defects to a condominium's common elements was by and through the condominium association.

while it may be true that condominium owners must by necessity expect to relinquish certain rights and accept certain responsibilities as a result of condominium living, this does not include the relinquishment of an owner's right to seek redress in Florida courts. There is no question that owners of the common elements have an actionable interest in preserving their common elements. Ownership is clearly a "sufficient stake" to confer standing upon unit owners. See generally, Jamlynn Investments Corp. v. San Mario Residences, 427 So.2d 815 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). The Fourth District has previously noted that individual unit owners have standing to maintain suits regarding common elements. In Wittington, supra, an action for damages relating to defects to common elements, the Fourth District noted that an owner, Victor Matthews, had standing in his individual capacity stating:

As to the status of Victor Matthews, individually, we are satisfied that the allegations contained in the complaint (in particular the allegation that he is a condominium unit owner) are

sufficient to demonstrate his interest and standing; and coupled with the other allegations pertaining to the multiple claims for relief are sufficient to withstand a motion for judgment on the pleadings.

Wittington, 313 So.2d at 468 (emphasis added).

In <u>Avila South Condominium Ass'n</u>, <u>Inc. v. Kappa Corp.</u>, 347 So.2d 599 (Fla. 1976), the Supreme Court recognized that individual unit owners had standing to attack the legality of their condominium's common element recreational lease. While the unit owners were not parties to the lease, they nonetheless had standing by virtue of their ownership interests in the common elements. <u>See also S & T Anchorage</u>, <u>Inc. v. Lewis</u>, 575 So.2d 696 (Fla.3d DCA 1991) (district court reversed summary judgment on ground that factual issues existed as to individual's rights, apart from the association's, to sue to protect common elements). Individual unit owners have <u>always</u> had standing in actions involving common elements.

The trial court erred in concluding that an individual unit owner has no standing to initiate suit regarding common elements.

D. <u>Section 718.111(3), Fla. Stat., Does Not Confer the Sole Exclusive Authority to Sue Upon Condominium Associations.</u>

Since individual unit owners are recognized as having an actionable interest in their condominium common elements, the only other basis upon which the trial court could dismiss this cause is based upon its determination that §718.111(3) conveys upon condominium associations the sole and exclusive right to maintain such actions. This interpretation is contrary to the plain

language of the statute and the clear legislative intent.

Section 718.111(3) provides, in its entirety:

POWER TO MANAGE CONDOMINIUM PROPERTY AND TO CONTRACT, SUE, AND BE SUED. The association may contract, sue, or be sued with respect to the exercise or nonexercise of For these purposes, the powers of the its powers. but are not limited to, association include, maintenance, management, and operation of the condominium After control of the association is obtained property. by unit owners other than the developer, the association may institute, maintain, settle, or appeal actions or hearings in its name on behalf of all unit owners concerning matters of common interest, including, but limited to, the common elements; the roof structural components of a building or other improvements; mechanical, electrical, and plumbing elements serving an improvement or a building; representations οf existing proposed developer pertaining to any commonly used facilities; and protesting ad valorem taxes on commonly used facilities and on units; and may defend actions in eminent domain or bring inverse Ιf the association has the condemnation actions. authority to maintain a class action, the association may be joined in an action as representative of that class with reference to litigation and disputes involving the matters for which the association could bring a Nothing herein limits any statutory or class action. common-law right of any individual unit owner or class of unit owners to bring any action which may otherwise be available. [e.s.]

To determine the meaning of a statute the touchstone is to ascertain the legislative intent and purpose behind the statute. See generally, Tyson v. Lanier, 156 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1963); Devin v. Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). This may be accomplished by following the general rules of statutory construction such as by giving the language of the statute its plain ordinary meaning, by reviewing the legislative history of the statute, and by reviewing judicial interpretation of the statute. Pursuant to these general rules, it is clear that §718.111(3) was intended to confer the "capacity" to sue upon condominium associations as a

procedural convenience rather than to create any substantive change in the law which would usurp the common law rights of the individual unit owners.

The plain language of the statute clearly suggests the legislature's intent was to create a permissive capacity in, rather than a mandatory obligation upon, condominium associations. pertinent statutory language itself is couched in the permissive term "may"; as in the association "may contract, sue, or be sued . . ."; "may institute, maintain, settle, or appeal actions or hearings in its name . . ."; and "may be joined in an action as representative of that class . . ." §718.111(3), Fla. Stat. The plain meaning of the statute is clearly permissive suggesting that actions maintained by associations are optional rather than mandatory. See generally, Brooks v. Anastasia Mosquito Control District, 148 So.2d 64 (Fla. 1st DCA 1963) (the word "may" is to be taken to mean permissive rather than mandatory); see also Pedersen v. Green, 105 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1958) (language of statute to be given plain ordinary meaning).

In addition, the final sentence of subsection (3) makes it abundantly clear that any rights, powers, or duties conferred upon a condominium association are limited so as not to infringe upon the rights of the individual unit owners. As stated:

Nothing herein limits any statutory or commonlaw right of any individual unit owner or class of unit owners to bring any action which may otherwise be available.

§718.111(3), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> (1987). It is clear from the plain unambiguous language of the statute that the legislative intent

was not to confer the exclusive right to sue upon condominium associations. The statute in no way affects the substantive rights of the individual unit owners to maintain any and all legal actions relating to the common elements. This particular "retention of rights" sentence of the statute was subsequently amended to make the legislative intent even more clear. In 1990, the legislature amended the final sentence of the pertinent section so as now to read:

Nothing herein limits any statutory or commonlaw right of any individual unit owner or class of unit owners to bring any action without participation by the association which may otherwise be available.

§718.111(3), Fla. Stat. (1990) (Ch. 90-151, Laws of (effective date October 1, 1990) (emphasis reflects added By this amendment, the legislature recognized the danger evidenced by the Defendants' arguments sub judice and the trial court's misinterpretation of the statute to affect the substantive rights of the unit owners. The amendment reflects the legislative intent that associations are not the sole and exclusive party to bring suit. Further, it clarifies the question as to whether the association must always be joined as a party in suits involving a common interest among unit owners. Associations need not be joined in such actions and recent case law supports this conclusion given that in actions involving issues of "common interest" neither the association nor individual unit owners are considered indispensable parties in suits maintained by the other. See generally, Brazilian Court Hotel v. Walker, 584 So.2d 609

(Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>Kesl, Inc. v. Racket Club of Deer Creek</u>, 574 So.2d 251 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991).

The express retention of rights provision in the Florida statute is significant because it clearly and completely distinguishes this case from that relied upon almost exclusively by Defendants. In Siller v. Hartz Mountain Associates, 93 N.J. 370, 461 A.2d 568, cert. den., 464 U.S. 961, 104 S.Ct. 395, 78 L.Ed.2d 337 (1983), the New Jersey Supreme Court recognized that a condominium association had standing to bring suit for alleged defects to common elements based upon New Jersey's Condominium Act. That Court expressly determined, however, that the legislative intent behind the Act was to confer the sole and exclusive right to sue upon associations. A review of the pertinent sections of the Act reveals, however, that the New Jersey Condominium Act does not contain a reservation of rights provision, distinguishing it from the Florida Act. The New Jersey counterpart to §718.111(3) is §46:8B-15(a) (1991), which provides:

Powers of the Association.

Subject to the provisions of the master deed, the bylaws and the provisions of this act, the association shall have the following powers:

(a) Whether or not incorporated, the association shall be an entity which shall act through its officers and may enter into contracts, bring suit and be sued. If the association is not incorporated, it may be deemed to be an entity existing pursuant to this act and a majority of the members of the governing board or of the association, as the case may be, shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business. Process may be served upon the association by serving any officer of the association or by serving agent designated for service of process.

Service of process upon the association shall not constitute service of process upon any individual unit owner.

Without a similar reservation of rights (Emphasis added). provision in the New Jersey statute, it is more susceptible to judicial interpretation and, as such, is inapposite to the instant It is interesting to note that while holding that the association had the sole and exclusive right to sue, the Court in Siller still recognized that individual unit owners have an actionable interest in common element defect suits. The Siller Court expressly held that an individual unit owner could "act on a common element claim upon the association's failure to do so." The court went on to state that "the Siller, 461 A.2d at 574. association must be named as a party." Id. Defendants fail to recognize that despite the clearly distinguishable statutory language, the Siller Court still acknowledged an individual unit owner's right to maintain suit. In the instant case, the proposed joinder of the association as an indispensable party, as suggested in <u>Siller</u>, was <u>expressly rejected by the trial court!</u>

The <u>Siller</u> Court also analogized the statutory law governing corporations in assessing the legislative intent. This logic is reiterated in Defendants' briefs. The <u>Siller</u> Court did not have the same explicit reservation of rights provision for guidance and so the corporate comparisons were well founded and justified. In the instant case, however, where the clear intent of the legislature is found in the plain language of the statute, such a comparison is unnecessary and improper. As stated by the Florida Supreme

Court in Century Village, Inc. v. Wellington, E, F, K, L, H, J, M & G, Condominium Association, 361 So.2d 128, 133-134 (Fla. 1978), the Legislature:

. . . has broad discretion to fashion such remedies as it deems necessary to protect the interests of the parties involved.

The Florida Legislature has wisely chosen not to usurp any of the individual condominium unit owners' rights. The intent of this reservation of rights was to protect the interests of the unit owners involved.

Section 718.111(3) does not confer the sole and exclusive right to sue upon condominium associations.

E. The Equitable Concern of Multiplicity of Suits Does Not Deprive Plaintiff of Standing.

Defendants confuse the substantive principle of standing with the equitable principle of avoiding multiple suits. They argue that the <u>potential</u> for multiple suits denies Plaintiff <u>standing</u>, despite Plaintiff's acknowledged ownership interest in the common elements. Defendants are incorrect and are placing the proverbial "cart before the horse."

Standing is the substantive requirement that a person have an interest in the litigation sufficient to justify seeking redress.

See generally, Jamlynn Investments Corp. v. San Mario Residences,

544 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989); Gieger v. Sun First National

Bank of Orlando, 427 So.2d 815 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983). As stated by

the Second District in Jamlynn:

The concept of standing has been defined in a broad sense as having a sufficient stake in an otherwise justiciable controversy to obtain judicial resolution of that

controversy. Standing is not determined by first finding whether privity exists. Rather, a party has standing when it has such a legitimate interest in a matter as to warrant asking a court to entertain it. Thus, one has standing where there is a sufficient interest at stake in the controversy which will be affected by the outcome of the litigation.

Jamlynn, 544 So.2d at 1082 (citations omitted).3

There is no question that Plaintiff has standing to maintain this action. Plaintiff not only has an "interest at stake", it has an <u>ownership</u> interest at stake. While Defendants do not appear to contest this, they argue that the <u>potential</u> for multiple suits divests Plaintiff of its standing. A review of the relevant law quickly reveals this is simply incorrect.

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